$\sim$			
$\mathbf{S}$			
L J			

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DOE NO. 1, Defendant and Petitioner, v.

LATRICE RUBENSTEIN, Plaintiff and Respondent SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAY 4 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy CRC 8.25(b)

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

After a Decision From the Court of Appeal of California, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D066722

\*Lee H. Roistacher, Esq. (SBN 179619)
Richard J. Schneider, Esq. (SBN 118580)
Daley & Heft, Attorneys at Law
462 Stevens Avenue, Suite 201, Solana Beach, CA 92075
Tel: (858) 755-5666 / Fax: (858) 755-7870
Attorneys for Defendant and Petitioner: Doe No. 1

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## **Introduction And Issues Presented**

To properly frame the issues presented, a brief overview of statutory and decisional law is necessary.

Before suing a government entity for personal injuries, a plaintiff generally must have presented a claim to the government entity within six months of the cause of action's accrual. (Government Code §§ 911.2, 905; Shirk v. Vista Unified School Dist. (2007) 42 Cal.4th 201, 208 (Shirk).) If the six-month deadline was missed, one can ask the government entity for permission to present a late claim, but permission must be

sought within one-year of the cause of action's accrual or a court is without jurisdiction to grant relief from the Government Code's claim presentation requirement and six-month deadline.

(Government Code §§ 911.4, 946.6; County of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 1263, 1272 (County of Los Angeles).) Minority does not toll the six-month or one-year deadlines. (John R. v. Oakland Unified School Dist. (1989) 48 Cal.3d 438, 444 n. 3 (John R.); Government Code § 911.4, subd. (c)(1).)

Although causes of action for childhood sexual abuse generally accrue at the time of the abuse (Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 210; John R., supra, 48 Cal.3d at 488), Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 (section 340.1) creates a codified delayed discovery rule altering and delaying the accrual date of childhood sexual abuse causes of action brought by adults. (Section 340.1, subds. (a), (b).) However, V.C. v. Los Angeles Unified School Dist. (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 499, 508-512 (V.C.), and Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th 210-214, hold that section 340.1 neither alters the accrual date of childhood sexual abuse causes of action for purposes of the Government Code's claim presentation deadline nor extends the Government Code's six-month claim presentation

deadline. (See also *County of Los Angeles, supra*, 127

Cal.App.4th at 1269 (section 340.1 does not alter the time to commence a lawsuit against a government entity for a childhood sexual abuse cause of action).)

Responding to *Shirk*, the Legislature amended the Government Code in 2008 to exempt from the Government Code's claim presentation requirement childhood sexual abuse causes of action based on *post*-January 1, 2009 conduct. (See Government Code § 905, subd. (m).) The Government Code's claim presentation requirement and six-month deadline still apply to childhood sexual abuse causes of action based on *pre*-January 1, 2009 conduct, like the conduct alleged here. (*Ibid.*)

Directly conflicting with *V.C.* and *Shirk*, implicitly conflicting with *County of Los Angeles*, and contrary to what the Legislature intended when enacting Government Code section 905, subdivision (m), the Court of Appeal held that section 340.1's delayed discovery provisions alter the accrual date of a childhood sexual abuse cause of action for purposes of the Government Code's six-month claim presentation deadline. (*Rubenstein*, *supra*, 245 Cal.App.4th at 1043, 1044-1045, 1046-1047.) The Court of Appeal came to this conclusion without any discussion or

even mention of *Shirk, V.C.* or *County of Los Angeles*, and further erroneously concluded that the 2008 amendment to Government Code section 905 was irrelevant to the issue.

This petition presents two important and now unsettled issues of law affecting every government entity in this State:

- 1. Does the Government Code's strictly construed claim presentation deadlines (deadlines requiring presentation of a claim no later than six months after the cause of action's accrual and requiring presentation of an application for leave to present a late claim no later than one-year after accrual) apply regardless of the delayed discovery provisions of section 340.1?
- 2. In light of the 2008 amendment to Government Code section 905, subdivision (m), where the Legislature in response to this Court's decision in *Shirk* eliminated the claim requirement for only those childhood sexual abuse causes of action based on conduct occurring after January 1, 2009, should an adult victim of childhood sexual abuse occurring before January 1, 2009 be barred from suing a government entity if he or she failed to present a claim to the government entity within six months of the abuse?

## Why Review Should Be Granted

The Court of Appeal held that the section 340.1's statutory delayed discovery provisions govern the accrual date of a childhood sexual abuse cause of action for purposes of the Government Code's claim presentation deadlines. (Rubenstein, supra, 245 Cal.App.4th at 1043, 1044-1045, 1046-1047.) This holding directly conflicts with V.C., supra, 139 Cal.App.4th at 508-512, implicitly conflicts with County of Los Angeles, supra, 127 Cal.App.4th at 1269, and disregards what this Court held in Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 210-214.

County of Los Angeles, V.C. and Shirk all establish that section 340.1's delayed discovery provisions have no impact on the Government Code's claim presentation requirement and deadlines. Indeed, V.C. and Shirk specifically hold that a childhood sexual abuse cause of action accrues when the abuse occurs and section 340.1 in no way alters the Government Code's six-month claim presentation deadline. And, critically, the Legislature has approved and accepted these holdings for pre-January 1, 2009 abuse (like in this case) and reaffirmed that a cause of action for childhood sexual abuse based on pre-January

1, 2009 conduct continues to require presentation of a claim within six months of the abuse.

Two years after *Shirk*, the Legislature addressed the impact of Shirk by amending Government Code section 905. While the Legislature initially proposed a bill that would completely undo Shirk by exempting from the Government Code's claim presentation requirement any childhood sexual abuse cause of action no matter when the abuse occurred, the bill that eventually passed and established Government Code section 905, subdivision (m) drew a bright line – for policy reasons – exempting from the Government Code's claim presentation requirement only those childhood sexual abuse causes of action based on conduct occurring after January 1, 2009. Causes of action for childhood sexual abuse for pre-January 1, 2009 conduct remain subject to the Government Code's claim presentation requirement and the six-month deadline.

Review is appropriate and necessary to secure uniformity of decision on a vitally important issue impacting every government entity in the State. (California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

Review is appropriate and necessary to resolve the conflict 
Rubenstein creates. (Ibid.) Review is also needed to clarify and

reaffirm that *V.C.* and *Shirk* remain the law regarding the necessity of presenting a claim within six months of the abuse for pre-January 1, 2009 conduct. (*Ibid.*)

If left standing, *Rubenstein* creates significant confusion and will dramatically increase the number of sexual abuse lawsuits brought against government entities at the expense of the public fisc. The latter is something the Legislature intended to limit when amending the Government Code to exempt from the claim presentation requirements only those causes of action based on post-January 1, 2009 conduct.

Under Rubenstein, the Government Code's six-month claim presentation deadline is extended indefinitely by section 340.1 for causes of action against entity defendants because subdivision (b)(2) of section 340.1 has no outside age limitation. Section 340.1, subdivision (b)(2) renders timely a childhood sexual abuse cause of action brought by a plaintiff of any age against an entity that knew or should have known of the abuse if brought within three years of discovery. Given the Court of Appeal's holding that section 340.1 governs when a childhood sexual abuse cause of action accrues for purposes of the Government Code's six-

month claim presentation deadline, Rubenstein provides, for example, that a 65 year-old timely complies with the six-month claim presentation deadline for abuse occurring 50 years earlier if the claim is presented within six-months of discovering the abuse. Such a result drastically circumvents the public policy reasons behind the Government Code's claim presentation requirement, the six-month claim presentation deadline, and the need to treat government entities different than private entities. As observed in Shirk, "[r]equiring a person allegedly harmed by a public entity to first present a claim to the entity, before seeking redress in court, affords the entity an opportunity to promptly remedy the condition giving rise to the injury, thus minimizing the risk of similar harm to others." (Shirk, supra, 42 Cal. 4th at 213 (emphasis added); see also City of Stockton v. Superior Court (2007) 42 Cal.4th 730, 738 (City of Stockton) (noting that the Government Code's claim presentation requirements and deadlines "enable . . . fiscal planning for potential liabilities and to avoid similar liabilities in the future"); Recommendation: Claims, Actions and Judgments Against Public Entities and Public Employees (Dec. 1963) 4 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (Jan. 1963) pages 1008-1009 ("[p]rompt

notice" ensures "prompt investigation and opportunity to repair or correct the condition which gave rise to the claim").) As further observed in *Shirk*, "[t]he requisite timely claim presentation before commencing a lawsuit also permits the public entity to investigate while tangible evidence is still available, memories are fresh, and witnesses can be located. [Citations.] *Fresh notice* of a claim permits early assessment by the public entity, allows its governing board to settle meritorious disputes without incurring the added cost of litigation, and gives it time to engage in appropriate budgetary planning." (Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 213 (emphasis added); "The notice requirement under the government claims statute thus is based on a recognition of the special status of public entities, according them greater protections than nonpublic entity defendants, because unlike nonpublic defendants, public entities whose acts or omissions are alleged to have caused harm will incur costs that must ultimately be borne by the taxpayers." (Ibid.)

#### III.

### Background

In June 2012, Rubenstein, 34 years old at the time, submitted a claim to Doe No. 1 alleging a volunteer track coach repeatedly molested her in 1993 and 1994. (Clerk's Transcript, Volume 1, pages 136-137 (1 CT 136-137).) Born in November 1978. Rubenstein was 15 or 16 at the time. (1 CT 136.) Rubenstein alleged in her claim the resurfacing of repressed memories of the molestation within the prior six months. (1 CT 136.) In August 2012, Doe No. 1 rejected Rubenstein's claim as untimely since it was not presented within six months of the alleged molestation. (1 CT 140.) In September 2012, Rubenstein sought permission from Doe No. 1 for leave to present a late claim. Rubenstein asserted her repressed memory of the molestation rendered her claim timely under section 340.1, subdivision (a), because she presented the claim within sixmonths of her discovery of the molestation. (1 CT 142.) Several days later. Doe No. 1 denied Rubenstein's application to present a late claim. (1 CT 145.)

Rubenstein subsequently filed in Superior Court a petition for relief from the Government Code's claim presentation

requirement arguing the delayed discovery provisions of section 340.1, subdivision (a) rendered her claim timely. (1 CT 080-097.) Doe No. 1 opposed Rubenstein's petition, arguing her cause of action for childhood sexual abuse accrued for purposes of the Government Code's claim presentation deadline within six months of the last molestation in 1994, and section 340.1, subdivision (a) did not extend the six-month deadline. (1 CT 099-105.) Doe No. 1 further argued the court lacked jurisdiction to grant Rubenstein relief as more than a year passed since her cause of action accrued. (CT 099-105.) On August 9, 2013, the trial court granted Rubenstein's petition finding her June 2012 claim timely under section 340.1, subdivision (a)'s delayed discovery provisions. (1 CT 161-163.)

The trial court subsequently sustained without leave to amend Doe No. 1's demurrer. (2 CT 553-557). The trial court concluded Rubenstein failed to comply with certificate of merit requirements in subdivision (h) of section 340.1 and could not correct this defect because the applicable limitation period had

run (which was 30 days from the granting of the Government Code section 946.6 petition for relief). (2 CT 553-557.)

On appeal, Doe No. 1 argued the trial court properly sustained the demurrer without leave to amend, and in the alternative argued that a judgment of dismissal was proper in any event because the trial court lacked jurisdiction to grant Rubenstein's Government Code section 946.6 petition. Thus, any error in sustaining the demurrer without leave to amend on the certificate of merit issue was not prejudicial.

In addition to finding error in sustaining the demurrer without leave to amend, the Court of Appeal "reject[ed] [Doe No. 1's] argument that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to grant a

¹This case bounced between the Imperial and San Diego County Superior Courts. The trial court in San Diego County heard and granted Rubenstein's Government Code section 946.6 petition. (1 CT 161-163.) The trial court in Imperial County heard and sustained Doe No. 1's demurrer. (2 CT 533-536.) In the order sustaining the demurrer, the trial court noted that when Rubenstein initially filed her complaint in Imperial County Superior Court she failed to seek relief under Government Code section 946.6 and stated "[t]his effort might have proven unsuccessful, in that the California Supreme Court has held that in these types of cases, the claim requirement is not tolled by Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 (Shirk v. Vista Unified School District (2007) 42 Cal.4th 207, 218-220.)" (3 CT 554.)

Government Code section 946.6 petition" concluding "that the statutory delayed discovery rule of [] section 340.1 applied to delay the accrual date of plaintiff's action for childhood sexual abuse. (Code Civ. Proc., section 340.1, subd. (a))." (Rubenstein, supra, 245 Cal.App.4th at 1043.) The Court of Appeal's reasoning was limited to the following:

The accrual date for claim filing purposes is the same as the accrual date for a corresponding civil cause of action. (Gov. Code, § 901.) Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 sets forth the limitations period for filing an action for childhood sexual abuse. (Quarry v. Doe I(2012) 53 Cal.4th 945, 952 (Quarry).) Thus, section 340.1 governs the accrual date for claim filing purposes.

(Id. at 1045.) Regarding Government Code section 905, subdivision (m), the Court of Appeal said:

Although not relevant here, it is important to note that in 2008 the Legislature added subdivision (m) to Government Code section 905, to provide an exception to the claim presentation requirement for childhood sexual abuse claims arising out of conduct occurring on or after January 1, 2009. Because the conduct in this case occurred in 1994, this amendment does not apply. Nonetheless, we agree with an observation made by the *K.J.* court that the amendment appears 'declaratory of existing law to the extent that it applies the delayed discovery doctrine to the accrual of a cause of action brought by an adult plaintiff against a public entity for childhood

sexual abuse.' (*K.J., supra*, 172 Cal.App.4th at p. 1234, fn. 2.)<sup>2</sup>

(*Id.* at 1046.)

Doe No. 1 sought rehearing, pointing out to the Court of Appeal that its conclusion that "section 340.1 governs the accrual date for claim filing purposes" was unsupported by any precedent and, in fact, conflicted with *V.C.* and *Shirk*, neither of which were discussed nor even cited. Doe No. 1 also explained that Government Code section 905, subdivision (m) was not declarative of existing law but was rather enacted to address *Shirk*. The Court of Appeal denied rehearing. (Exhibit "B".) This petition timely follows.

#### IV.

# Legal Argument

A. Strict compliance with the Government Code's claim presentation requirement and deadlines furthers public policy

Unless specifically exempted, a plaintiff suing a government entity for personal injuries must present a claim to the government entity within six months of the cause of action's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> K.J. v. Acardia Unified School Dist. (2007) 172 Cal.App.4th 1229.

accrual. (Government Code §§ 905, 911.2, subd. (a); 945.4; Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 208.) The six-month period is not tolled while the claimant is a minor. (John R., supra, 48 Cal. 3d at 444 n.3; V.C., supra, 139 Cal.App.4th at 508; Code of Civil Procedure § 352, subd. (b); Government Code § 911.4, subd. (c)(1).) For purposes of the six-month deadline, a cause of action accrues at the same time it would accrue against a private entity. (Government Code § 901; Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 208-209; V.C., supra, 139 Cal.App.4th at 508.) This Court has repeatedly held that "[g]enerally, a cause of action for childhood sexual molestation accrues at the time of the molestation." (Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 210 (emphasis added); John R., supra, 48 Cal.3d at 444.)

After six months, a claimant may seek permission from the government entity to present a late claim but must do so within a year of the cause of action's accrual. (Government Code §§ 911.4, 946.6; County of Los Angeles, supra, 127 Cal.App.4th at 1272.)

Like the six-month period to present a claim, the one-year period to seek permission to present a late claim is not tolled for minority. (Government Code § 911.4, subd. (c)(1).)

If the government entity rejects an application to present a late claim, the claimant can petition the court for relief from the Government Code's claim presentation requirement.

(Government Code § 946.6). But a court lacks jurisdiction to grant the petition if the application to present a late claim was made to the government entity more than one-year after the cause of action's accrual. (County of Los Angeles, supra, 127 Cal.App.4th at 1272; Brandon G. v. Gray (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 29, 34.)

The Government Code's claim presentation requirement and deadlines are strictly construed. (Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 209.) Strong public policy reasons require strict compliance, as government entity liability directly impacts the public fisc.

Indeed, "[t]he purpose of the claims statutes is not to prevent surprise, but to provide the public entity sufficient information to enable it to adequately investigate claims and to settle them, if appropriate, without the expense of litigation. . . . . The claims statutes also enable the public entity to engage in fiscal planning for potential liabilities and to avoid similar liabilities in the future." (City of Stockton, supra, (2007) 42 Cal.4th at 738)

(internal quotes and citations omitted); see *Shirk*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at 213.)

#### B. Section 340.1 and childhood sexual abuse causes of action

In stark contrast to the Government Code's six-month claim presentation deadline applicable to childhood sexual abuse causes of action based on pre-January 1, 2009 conduct (see Government Code § 905, subd. (m) and discussion post), and the absence of tolling of this six-month deadline during a claimant's minority, section 340.1 establishes a special limitation period for victims of childhood sexual abuse.<sup>3</sup> For lawsuits against abusers, the limitation period is delayed until the plaintiff turns 26 or within three years of discovery of the childhood sexual abuse. (Section 340.1, subd. (a).) For lawsuits against certain nonabusers (those that knew or should have known of an employee's unlawful conduct and failed to take action to prevent the unlawful conduct), a plaintiff timely brings a lawsuit for childhood sexual abuse regardless of age if the lawsuit is brought

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Section 340.1 was enacted in 1986. Between 1986 and 2002, section 340.1 was amended many times. (See *Quarry, supra*, 53 Cal.4th at 961-972 (describing amendments); *Shirk, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at 207-208 (same).)

within three years of discovery of the childhood sexual abuse.

(Section 340.1, subd. (b)(2).) This Court has stated that section

340.1 legislatively supplants common law delayed discovery for childhood sexual abuse claims. (*Quarry*, supra, 53 Cal.4th at 983-984; see *Aryeh v. Cannon Business Solutions, Inc.* (2013) 55

Cal.4th 1185, 1193 (noting the holding in *Quarry*).) 4

C. Rubenstein directly conflicts with V.C., implicitly conflicts with County of Los Angeles, and is unfaithful to Shirk

In 2005, County of Los Angeles held that section 340.1 does not abrogate the Government Code's claim filing requirement and deadlines, concluding that section 340.1 does not extend the time

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Prior to *Quarry*, a number of Court of Appeal decisions analyzed whether common law delayed discovery applied to delay the accrual date of a childhood sexual abuse cause of action for purposes of compliance with the Government Code's six-month claim presentation deadline. (See e.g., S.M. v. Los Angeles Unified School Dist. (2010) 184 Cal. App. 4th 712, 719-720; K.J. v. Arcadia Unified School Dist. (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1229, 1241-1242; V.C., supra, 139 Cal.App.4th at 515-516.) Subsequent to Quarry, only one Court of Appeal has addressed common law delayed discovery in this context. The Court of Appeal in J.J. v. County of San Diego (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 1214, the same Court of Appeal involved in this petition, analyzed the issue without any discussion of *Quarry*. (*Id.* at 1222-1226.) The Court of Appeal here accepted Quarry's recognition that section 340.1 did away with common law delayed discovery for childhood sexual abuse causes of action. (See Rubenstein, supra, 245) Cal.App.4th at 1046-1047.)

a plaintiff has to commence a lawsuit against a government entity for those causes of action requiring timely presentation of a claim. (*County of Los Angeles, supra*, 127 Cal.App.4th at 1268-1270.)

Similarly, in 2006, the Court of Appeal in V.C. specifically addressed the issue of whether section 340.1 applied to delay the accrual date of a childhood sexual abuse cause of action for purposes of the Government Code's six-month claim presentation deadline. Following the analysis utilized in *County of Los* Angeles, the Court of Appeal held it did not. The Court of Appeal first held "that while section 340.1 extends the time during which an individual may commence a cause of action alleging childhood sexual abuse, it does not extend the time for accrual of that cause of action." (V.C., supra, 139 Cal.App.4th at 510 (emphasis added).) "Rather, as cases decided both before and after the enactment of section 340.1 have confirmed, '[a] civil cause of action for child molestation generally accrues at the time of the molestation. [Citations]." (*Ibid.* (emphasis added).)

Significantly, the Court of Appeal further held that section 340.1's delayed discovery provisions have no bearing on when a childhood sexual abuse cause of action accrues for purposes of the

Government Code's six month claim presentation deadline. (*V.C., supra*, 139 Cal. App. 4th at 510-512; *id.* at 514 ("nothing in the language or legislative history of section 340.1 [] establishes the Legislature intended to modify either the date of accrual or the [Government Code's] claim requirements"); see also *County of Los Angeles, supra*, 127 Cal. App. 4th at 1268-1269 ("To the extent that section 340.1 now authorizes suits against a person or entity other than the actual perpetrator, nothing in that statute or the legislative history of the 1998 amendment to that statute reflects an intent on the part of the Legislature to excuse victims of childhood sexual abuse from complying with the [Government Code] when the defendant is a public entity or public employee").)

In 2007, this Court addressed the issue of whether section 340.1 impacts when a cause of action for childhood sexual abuse accrues for purposes of the Government Code's six-month claim presentation deadline. This Court granted review in *Shirk* to resolve a conflict between the lower court's opinion (the same court in this case) and *County of Los Angeles* on the issue of whether the Legislature intended with its 2002 amendment to section 340.1 to excuse childhood sexual abuse victims from

complying with the Government Code's claim filing requirement and deadlines. (Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 206-207.)

In Shirk, the plaintiff alleged being last abused in November 1979 but was unaware she was suffering psychological problems from the abuse until seeing a therapist in September 2003. She presented a claim to the school district immediately thereafter. (Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 205.) This Court framed the issue it was resolving as follows: "The six-month statute of limitations for filing a lawsuit that is generally applicable to actions against public defendants (Code Civ. Proc., § 342; Gov. Code, § 945.6, subd. (a)(1)) is not implicated by the facts here. Rather, it is the claim presentation deadline (Code Civ. Proc., § 313; Gov. Code, § 911.2) that is at issue . . . . " (Id. at 209.)

After confirming the general rule that a cause of action for childhood sexual abuse accrues when the abuse occurs (*Shirk*, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 210), and noting the plaintiff conceded she failed to present a claim within six months of the last abuse (*ibid.*), this Court rejected the plaintiff's argument that she timely presented her claim in 2003 some 25 years after the abuse because her obligation to present a claim did not accrue, and her obligation to present a claim thus did not arise, until she

discovered her psychological problems were caused by the abuse. (Id. at 210-211.) Analyzing the legislative history, this Court held that the Legislature never intended for 340.1 to have any impact on when a childhood sexual abuse cause of action accrues for purposes of the Government Code's six-month claim presentation deadline nor was there any indication that the Legislature intended to delay or extend the six-month deadline for childhood sexual abuse causes of action. (Id. at 211-214.)

Although seemingly recognizing the inequities of precluding a plaintiff from suing a government entity for failing to present a claim within the six month deadline because a minor might not recognize being a victim of abuse until years later, this Court explained the public policy underlying the strict six month claim presentation deadline - a Legislative decision - warrants government entities receiving special treatment and greater protection because the taxpayers ultimately bear the costs associated with harmful actions by government entities. (Shirk, supra, 42 Cal.4th at 213.)

D. By enacting Government Code section 905, subdivision (m), and limiting its application to post-January 1, 2009 abuse, the Legislature accepted and approved the holdings in *V.C.* and *Shirk* for pre-January 1, 2009 abuse, holdings establishing that the Government Code requires presentation of a claim within six months of the abuse notwithstanding section 340.1

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