IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S234269

LATRICE RUBENSTEIN, Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

DOE #1,
Defendant and Respondent.

Court of Appeal of California Fourth District, Division One D066722

Superior Court of California Imperial County ECU08107 Hon. Juan Ulloa

SUPREME COURT

Answer to Petition for Review

MAY **24** 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Elliott N. Kanter (SBN # 95054) Law Offices of Elliott N. Kanter 2445 Fifth Avenue, Suite 350 San Diego, CA 92101 (619) 231-1883 fow (610) 224 4552

fax: (619) 234-4553 ekanter@enkanter.com

Attorney for Plaintiff and Appellant

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S234269

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. No Grounds Exist for Granting Review in This Case

Defendant/petitioner, Doe No. 1, has petitioned this court review of a published opinion where the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, held that the trial court had jurisdiction to grant a Government Code section 946.6 Petition finding that the statutory delayed discovery rule of Government Code section 340.1 applied to delay the accrual of plaintiff's action.

Defendant/petitioner presented two issues that they believe are unsettled issues of law: 1. Do the government codes strictly construed claim presentation deadlines (deadlines requiring presentation of a claim no later than six months after the cause of action rule and requiring presentation of an application for leave to present a late claim no later than one year after accrual) apply regardless of the delayed discovery provisions of Government Code section 340.1?

2. Does the 2008 amendment to the Government Code section 905, subdivision (m) apply?

As will be analyzed in the following arguments, there is not any conflict of law that is presented by the Rubenstein case. There is not any lack of uniformity of decisions on a vitally important issue that impacts every governmental entity in the state. Review is also not needed to clarify any case law including *Shirk v. Vista Unified Sch. Dist.* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 201, 208 or *V. C.v. Los Angeles Unified Sch. Dist.* (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 499,

508–512 (V.C). Rubenstein does not create any confusion, and any increase in sexual abuse lawsuits is speculative at best. Most importantly, Rubenstein confirms the long-standing law concerning the accrual of a cause of action. Most importantly Rubenstein analyzed that the common-law delayed discovery rule applies to the accrual of a childhood sexual abuse cause of action for purposes of compliance with the Government Codes presentation claims deadlines.

II. Review Should be Denied Because the Court of Appeal Correctly Stated and Applied the Principles of Delay Discovery and Accrual of Child Sexual Abuse Causes of Action Pursuant to the Appropriate Government Codes.

Rubenstein v. Doe no. 1 (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 1037 (Rubenstein) does not conflict with V. C., Shirk, or the Cnty. of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 1263. It is not contested that Ms. Rubenstein's filed her claimed within six months of realizing she had repressed memory of the molestation by a coach hired and employed by defendant/ petitioner. It is not contested that she filed her lawsuit in a timely manner. Defendant/ petitioner site V.C. initially in support of their petition and theory. However, V. C. is clearly distinguishable. In that case the trial court ruled that the cause of action accrued on August 15, 2003. V. C. presented her claim for damages and applied for permission to file a late claim on September 17 and October 4, 2004, respectively, dates well beyond the six-month and one year time limits afforded by Government Code sections

911.2 and 911.4. Even though the child molestation acts occurred in the Rubenstein case many years before, they did not accrue until she had a resurfacing of repressed memories of the molestation within the prior six months of filing her initial claim. It is conceded by defendant and petitioner that she sought permission from Doe NO. 1 for leave to present a late claim. That application was denied. She timely filed in the Superior Court of petition for relief from the government Codes claim presentation and filed her lawsuit. That petition was opposed. On August 9, 2013, the trial court granted Rubenstein's petition, finding her June 2012 claim timely under Government Code section 340.1 et al.

The V. C. Court also acknowledged that there can be a delayed discovery, and therefore delayed accrual of the cause of action. It is well accepted that a cause of action accrues for the purposes of the filing requirements of the Government Tort Claims Act on the same date a similar action against a nonpublic entity would be deemed to accrue for purposes of applying the relevant statute limitations. (John R. v. Unified sch. Dist. (1989) 48 Cal.3d 438, 444.) V. C. argued simply that her cause of action would not accrue until she reached the age of majority. The court ruled that the mother knew of the molestation, the perpetrator was arrested over year before the claim was filed, and the facts supported a reasonable likelihood that the petitioner suspected the wrongdoing a year before the claim was filed. Again, that court simply stated that V.C. did not comply with the Government Code Tort claims Act. She did not allege any delayed discovery or delayed accrual of any causes of action. The V.C. court confirmed that the effect of delayed discovery, is to delay the accrual of the

cause of action and cited *Curtis T.* (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 1405, 1416. It also stated thus, where the cause of action for sexual abuse has not yet accrued because the delayed discovery, the date of accrual and, in turn, the time for both presenting a claim and commencing the cause of action is extended.

Shirk v. Vista Unified Sch. Dist. (2006) 139 Cal.App. 4, that 499 is also distinguishable. The Shirk case simply dealt with whether or not Government Code section 340.1 as amended allowed for the revival of a tort claim during the revival year of 2003. The case essentially said that the tort claim act was not part of that revival statute. The case stated that although the revival year for sexual abuse cases allowed for the filing of new cases because of the lapse of the statute limitations, it did not allow for the revival of the presentation of the government tort claim act. That case did not again show that there was a delayed or suppressed memory of the wrongful act or molestation.

In the Cnty. of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (2005) 127 Cal.App.4th 1232, 1263, that case simply dealt with an issue where the plaintiff filed a tort claim within a timely fashion. That claim was rejected by a letter. The lawsuit was not filed within six months after the rejection of the letter. There were other issues concerning whether or not the attorney represented the plaintiff or not. However, this case did not decide nor talk about delayed discovery, delayed accrual, or any other issue decided by the Rubenstein case.

K. J. v. Arcadia Unified Sch. Dist. (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1229, case that is cited by petitioners and defendant, supports Rubenstein's position that there is not any controversy or inconsistency between the District Courts of California. The

Government Claims statutes (Gov. Code, § 900 et seq.) require that before suing a public entity, a plaintiff must present a claim to the public entity no later than six months after the cause of action accrues. (Id., § 911.2.) The essential issue presented is whether K.J. properly pled and filed a timely claim with the District prior to filing suit. K.J. stated:

- (1) When a plaintiff sues a public entity following the denial of a tort claim for childhood sexual abuse, the statute of limitations is the standard six-month period set forth in Government Code section 945.6, not the extended statute of limitations found in Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1. However, the issue in this case is not the statute of limitations, but rather the date the cause of action *accrued*. The accrual date for presenting a government tort claim is identical to the accrual date that would apply in an ordinary action when no public entity is involved. (Gov. Code, § 901; *Shirk v. Vista Unified Sch. Dist.*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 208–209.)
- (2) Under the delayed discovery doctrine, accrual of a cause of action is postponed until the plaintiff discovers, or has reason to discover, the cause of action. (Norgart v. Upjohn Co. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 383, 397 [87 Cal.Rptr.2d 453, 981 P.2d 79] (Norgart); Curtis T., supra, 123 Cal.App.4th at p. 1418; V.C, supra, 139 Cal.App.4th at p. 515.)

There, as in Rubenstein, the court ruled that the allegations were sufficient to invoke the delay discovery rule of accrual. Therefore, for pleading purposes, Rubenstein as did *K.J.* adequately alleged they presented a timely claim, i.e. delayed discovery, to the respective districts that they had been the victim of childhood sexual abuse.

Quarry v. Doe 1 (2012) 53 Cal.4th 945 does not apply because Rubenstein was not 26 years old at the time of the 1998 or 2002 amendments to Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1.

III. The Appellate Court Properly Ruled Government Code section 905, subdivision (m) was Irrelevant.

Government Code section 905, subdivision (m) is irrelevant in that it states that claims must be filed against local public entities except in the following circumstances: (m) claims made pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 for the recovery of damages suffered as a result of childhood sexual abuse. The subdivision shall apply only to claims arising out of conduct occurring on or after January 1, 2009. Obviously this conduct occurred prior to January 1, 2009. However, what petitioner's and defendant seem to miss that a claim was timely filed. Government Code section 905 is irrelevant to this cause of action. Simply stated, Government Code section 905, subdivision (m) simply eliminate the need to file a government tort claim. It did not do anything to change the law for abuse occurring before Jan. 1, 2009.

IV. Conclusion

This court should not grant Doe No. 1's petition for review. As stated above and argued appropriately, there is not any need to secure uniformity of decision and that there is not any conflict created by Rubenstein. Clearly, Rubenstein filed her claim in a timely fashion after the cause of action accrued. Her actions are

consistent with K. J. v. Arcadia Unified Sch. Dist., supra, 172 Cal.App.4th 1229 and Curtis T., supra, 123 Cal.App.4th 1405. Rubenstein does not change the law. Rubenstein does not have a far-reaching issue affecting every governmental entity in the state. There is not a need to transfer this case back to the Court of Appeal in light of V.C. and Shirk in that Rubenstein is not inconsistent with those opinions. Those cases were decided on different facts.

Law Offices of Elliott N.

Kanter